Contextual Framework

COVID-19: Monitoring Impacts on Learning Outcomes (MILO)

Version 1.0, 16 June 2021

The Global Education Monitoring (GEM) Centre supports education stakeholders to collect, analyse and use high-quality data to improve learning outcomes. The GEM Centre is a long-term partnership between the Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) and the Australian Government's Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT).











Acknowledgments

This project, the Assessment and Study of COVID Impact on Learner Progress, is referred to as the COVID-19 MILO (Monitoring Impacts on Learning Outcomes) project. This UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS) project is funded by the Global Partnership for Education (GPE).

The Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) is the technical partner for this project. Support is provided from ACER's Global Education Monitoring Centre (GEM Centre), an ACER initiative in partnership with the Australian government's Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade. The GEM Centre is also contributing to the UIS Global Item Bank. Technical and implementation support, and contribution to the assessment item pool, is provided by CONFEMEN.

Contents

Acknowledgments	1
Contents	2
List of abbreviations	3
Introduction	4
Background	4
Conceptual framework	6
Theme 1: Understanding the COVID-19 disruption	7
Theme 2: Student characteristics and support for students	8
Theme 3: Home environment and support for families	10
Theme 4: School environment	12
Theme 5: Teaching and learning	13
Theme 6: Student assessment and monitoring	13
The MILO questionnaires	14
References	16

List of abbreviations

ACER	Australian Council for Educational Research
INEE	The International Network of Education in Emergencies
MILO	Monitoring Impacts on Learning Outcomes
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
UIS	UNESCO Institute for Statistics
UNESCO	The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

Introduction

The COVID-19: Monitoring Impacts on Learning Outcomes (MILO) project aims to measure learning outcomes in six countries in Africa, in order to analyse the long-term impact of COVID-19 on learning and to evaluate the effectiveness of distance learning mechanisms utilised during school closures. In addition, this project will develop the capacity of countries to monitor learning after the crisis.

The four overarching goals of the project are to:

- Evaluate the impact of COVID-19 on learning outcomes and measure the learning loss by reporting against Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) indicator 4.1.1b
- Identify the impact of different distance learning mechanisms put in place to remediate the learning disruption generated by COVID-19
- Expand the UIS bank of items for primary education
- Generate a toolkit so that assessment results can be scaled to international benchmarks, reporting against SDG 4.1.1.b.

The purpose of this Contextual Framework is to guide the development of the contextual questionnaires for MILO in order to address the research questions of the study. This Contextual Framework is organised into six themes and each theme draws on evidence from the literature to provide guidance on the types of data that are to be collected through the questionnaires. This Contextual Framework identifies and defines the multiple contexts that influence learners' performance and engagement in the six education systems of this study. Specifically, the framework:

- Guided the development of the contextual questionnaires
- Informs the interpretation and reporting of the relationship between contextual factors and learner performance, as well as the education policy that shapes this relationship.

The contextual questionnaires are designed to support the MILO project goal of identifying the impact of different distance learning mechanisms put in place to remediate the learning disruption generated by COVID-19.

Background

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused educational disruptions in a number of ways. Across the world, schools have been partially or wholly closed, teachers and students have been forced to quarantine at home for short or extended periods of time, social learning opportunities have been cancelled and community interactions have been curtailed. This has added a further challenge to the achievement of the SDGs related to education (UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 2020; UNESCO, 2020a). Countries have taken different approaches to continue teaching and learning in response to the COVID-19 disruptions. Most of these approaches can be categorised as Emergency Remote Teaching, involving a temporary shift of instructional delivery with an intention to return to in person delivery once the pandemic subsides.

Emergency Remote Teaching often involves technology based solutions, where such infrastructure is widely available. This can be collaborative learning that takes place through social interaction over the internet using video, chat, emails, discussion boards or knowledge forums. Educational broadcasting, the delivery of educational content via television or radio, has also been widely used during the pandemic and can be useful as it is not dependent on internet access or modern devices (Tarricone et al., Forthcoming).

No matter what the technical solution might be, there are a set of enabling conditions that must be in place for teaching and learning to occur in distance education contexts. Successful remote teaching requires teachers and students to have access to appropriate resources, including technology, and well-designed learning environments. It is therefore critical that teachers are provided with appropriate support and professional learning, particularly in designing learning which makes use of effective digital pedagogies (Tarricone et al., Forthcoming). Even when technology is available, the effective use of technical solutions for remote learning is highly dependent on the technological proficiency of students or their parents/ guardians.

Parental support and facilitation of remote learning is also important to the success of remote learning. Informing parents of their role and providing them with the strategies and tools to support their children's remote learning is essential to fostering a learning environment for the child (Cullinane & Montacute, 2020; Reimers & Schleicher, 2020).

One goal of remote learning is to promote student engagement in the learning process. Recent research focusing on the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic has explored ways in which self-regulation and resilience can be supported to enhance engagement in learning (Cho et al., 2021; Dvorsky et al., 2020). The effect of school closure and decreased student participation due to COVID-19 is likely to lead to reduced school completion rates (Tsolou et al., 2021; UN, 2020). It appears that disadvantaged or marginalised groups are disproportionally impacted by learning disruption, which may exacerbate inequitable educational outcomes. Data collected through the MILO project will be used to better understand the differential educational effects of COVID-19 on students. This information could be used to inform policy and practice responses to advance equitable student learning. The contextual data will be collected using the following three survey instruments: a Student Questionnaire provided to sampled students undertaking the MILO assessment; a School Questionnaire given to school principals from sampled schools; and a System Questionnaire, to be completed once for each participating country at ministerial level. The focus of each questionnaire is described further below.

Conceptual framework

This conceptual framework underpins the design of the MILO questionnaires. The Framework guides what kinds of data that need to be collected to achieve the MILO objectives of: understanding how the COVID-19 disruption affected learning; quantifying any learning loss; and identifying how to support student learning. The Conceptual Framework will also be used to assist in analysing the data and organising the findings at the reporting stage.

The Conceptual Framework is organised into six themes, with the impact of the COVID-19 disruption organised into three layers: student characteristics, the home environment and the outer layer – the school environment, which includes two sub-themes, teaching and learning, and assessment and monitoring. This framework is depicted in Figure 1, with each theme outlined below.



Figure 1: Conceptual Framework for MILO contextual data

Understanding the COVID-19 disruption

The first theme, *Understanding the COVID-19 disruption*, is used to guide the collection of data relating to how COVID-19 impacted different school systems, schools and students. This provides the foundation on which other data are collected, in that the other data relate to the effects of COVID-19.

Student characteristics

Beginning at the inner layer, data will be collected about *Student characteristics*, based on the following four demographic categories: 'socioeconomic status', 'gender', 'Students with disability or special needs' and 'students from ethnic, linguistic, refugee or internally displaced backgrounds'. These categories were derived from the literature, where evidence showed that students with particular qualities or from certain backgrounds are more vulnerable to learning loss during emergencies in education, such as COVID-19 (Tarricone et al., Forthcoming).

Home environment

At the meso-layer, data will be collected about the *Home environment*. Although this is related to student background, it is more focussed on the home circumstances of students that might enable or inhibit learning during the COVID-19 disruption, regardless of more enduring personal characteristics.

School environment, including Teaching and learning, and Assessment and monitoring

The outer layer is the *school environment*. The resources and actions of schools can either exaggerate or insulate children from the COVID-19 disruption. Within the broader school environment, *Teaching and learning* practices and *Assessment and monitoring* illuminate how education was undertaken during the COVID-19 disruption.

Together, these six themes provide a comprehensive picture of the student, school and system contexts in which student's education was affected by COVID-19, as well as considering student wellbeing and equity. The literature that informed each theme is presented below and the data that will be collected through MILO is discussed.

Theme I: Understanding the COVID-19 disruption

The COVID-19 disruption differs between education systems, as well as between schools and students within the same education system. Understanding the diverse impacts of the COVID-19 disruption is important as some populations can be particularly detrimentally affected. Research suggests that the COVID-19 disruption has exacerbated inequalities within countries and between them, undermining the realisation of the SDGs (Di Pietro et al., 2020; Save the Children, 2020; UNESCO, 2020b). Children from disadvantaged backgrounds need the most educational support, but have been least likely to receive it, leaving them even further behind. For example, an OECD study across 59 developed and developing countries found that during the COVID-19 disruption, approximately half of the children in most of these countries could not attend school or access the curriculum via any means (Reimers & Schleicher, 2020).

The MILO questionnaires are used to ascertain the specific nature of the disruption across diverse circumstances. The Student Questionnaire will investigate whether students experienced COVID-19 related school closures. Further detail will be obtained from the School Questionnaire, which will ascertain data about the length of time of school shutdowns, as well as whether schools remained partially open, such as to

particular students and staff. The Systems Questionnaire will provide opportunity for officials to describe key features of the COVID-19 disruption in their country, including variance across schools.

Emergencies in education increase the risks of causing long-term physical and psychological damage and trauma, whereby children are likely to feel uncertainty, fear, and isolation (European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations, 2020; Halman et al., 2018; Kankaraš & Suarez-Alvarez, 2019; Rodríguez-Ledo et al., 2018; Weiss-Yagoda et al., 2019). Specific impacts of the COVID-19 disruption include: anxiety, stress, boredom, and an inability to concentrate (Di Pietro et al., 2020; Save the Children International, 2020). To ascertain the impacts of the COVID-19 disruption on different students, in the MILO contextual questionnaire students will be asked how they felt during the disruption, such as to what extent they were worried, scared or angry. Furthermore, data about the effects on students upon returning to school will also be collected, such as whether they lost interest in school work, could not focus, or worked slower than previously.

Theme 2: Student characteristics and support for students

Students' personal characteristics, and the level of support that students are provided to meet their personal needs can shape their achievement levels. Educational emergencies, such as COVID-19 disruption, have differential impacts on educational achievement by students' socioeconomic status, gender, disability or special needs, ethnic and linguistic background, and refugee or internally displaced background.

Socioeconomic status

There is a large body of evidence showing the association between low socioeconomic status and poor educational outcomes (Koza Çiftçi & Melis Cin, 2017; Sirin, 2005). This is particularly the case during emergencies in education, as children of low socioeconomic status lack family resources to buffer them against the effects of emergencies. Parents of low socioeconomic status (measured in various ways , including eligibility for free school meals and household income) have less economic and human capital to support their children's education during school closures (Cullinane & Montacute, 2020; Di Pietro et al., 2020). In addition, emergencies like COVID-19 can reduce already low household incomes, which can result in children being required to enter the workforce, whereby they may not return to school, even after the emergency subsides (Bekalo et al., 2003; Desai, 2020; Save the Children, 2020; Smitha, 2014).

There are varied measures of socioeconomic status. However, most measures apply a composite indicator, which includes various social and cultural factors, as well as economic factors (Schwantner & Adams, 2018). The MILO questionnaires will obtain data about a range of factors related to socioeconomic status. A number of questions will be related to household resources, including the physical structure and amenities of the dwelling, as well as household possessions, like owning a refrigerator. Socio and

cultural factors are ascertained by asking about parental education levels and the number of books in the household.

The MILO questionnaires also collect data about the support that schools and the broader education system may have provided to students from low socioeconomic backgrounds. For example, at the school level, data will be collected about whether additional support (such as equipment and extra tuition) were provided to students affected by poverty. At the systems level, data will be collected on the planning and provision of support to students from low socioeconomic backgrounds during the COVID-19 disruption and to encourage them to return to school after the disruption, such as with free school meals. At the student level, students will be asked about the general support they received during COVID-19 (such as teachers being available when needed and adapting school work to the needs of students) can be correlated with the socioeconomic status of students, thereby providing insight into the extent to which students from low socioeconomic status received particular attention.

Gender

Girls are less likely than boys to return to school when schools reopen after an emergency. This is because in many low income countries girls are more susceptible to child marriage, gender-based violence and teenage pregnancy (Akmal et al., 2020; Heltne et al., 2020). Girls are also likely to be kept from school due to patriarchal households favouring boys' education when resources are limited, or to protect girls from perceived or real insecurities (Education Cannot Wait, 2019; Global Education Monitoring Report Team, 2020; Kirk, 2011; Save the Children, 2020).

The MILO School and System Questionnaires include questions related to student gender. Specifically, the School Questionnaire will attempts to identify if there was a change of the gender ratio before and after the COVID-19 disruption. Related to this, the Student Questionnaire asks participants if they had to undertake housework, including care for family members. The System Questionnaire enquires about the measures implemented to support girls during the COVID-19 disruption, as well as return to school afterwards. In recognition of the significance gender has on learning outcomes, the MILO assessment results for each education system will be reported not only in terms of all students, but also according to gender. The contextual data can be used to better understand any differences in assessment results between girls and boys.

Students with disability or special needs

The International Network of Education in Emergencies has highlighted that children with disability (or special needs) are particularly vulnerable during emergencies (INEE, 2020), They often experience barriers accessing information, as well as increased isolation and are excluded from decision making. Furthermore, the additional support that might usually be provided to children with disability is often interrupted during an emergency (Dickinson et al., 2020; Good, 2015). Although, children with disability are vulnerable during emergencies across all education systems, risks are heightened in

low-income countries, which have less resources to cater to them (Save the Children International, 2020).

The MILO questionnaires will collect data about support provided to students with disability and special needs, where 'special needs' is defined according to each country's official criteria. Students will be asked if they received special support. This can then be triangulated with data collected from the School Questionnaire, which will ask if schools provided support for students with special needs, including whether school buildings remained open to this group of students and whether particular measures were implemented to encourage their return to school. At the systems level, data will be collected about the plans and policies for supporting students with disability or special needs.

Students from ethnic, linguistic, refugee or internally displaced backgrounds

There is strong evidence that children from ethnic or linguistic minorities are educationally disadvantaged compared to children whose mother tongue is the language of instruction (UNESCO, 2016). Research suggests students from ethnic and linguistic minorities display significantly lower levels of learning achievement than those from the dominant group (August et al., 2009; Mazawi, 1999).

During educational emergencies, this disadvantage is intensified, as often emergency education material, such as radio lessons, are only provided in the official or dominant language. The exacerbation of disadvantage that children from ethnic and linguistic minorities experience has been heightened during the COVID-19 disruption (UIS, 2021). Students from refugee and internally displaced backgrounds face many of the same challenges as other ethnic and linguistic minorities, and their predicament is often further compounded by living in overcrowded environments, lacking access to health services and experience unstable schooling (Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre, 2020; Refugees International, 2020).

The MILO questionnaires will collect data relating to ethnicity and language, including whether students are from refugee and internally displaced backgrounds. Students will be asked about the language they speak at home, and this will be triangulated by asking principals about the proportion of students whose 'heritage language' is not the same as the language of instruction. Furthermore, principals will be asked about the proportion of students who are from ethnic minorities, as well as immigrant, refugee or internally displaced backgrounds. At the systems level, data will be collected on whether plans or policies have been developed to support these groups of students.

Theme 3: Home environment and support for families

The level of resources that students have access to at home can greatly mediate the effect of the COVID-19 disruption (Cullinane & Montacute, 2020; Reimers & Schleicher, 2020). Accordingly, the MILO Student and School Questionnaires collect data about students' home environment, thereby providing information about the enablers and inhibiters of learning during the COVID-19 disruption. Data will be collected about how the COVID-19 disruption affected households. For example, students will be asked questions related to changes in household resources, illness and being forced to relocate.

The utilisation of digital platforms provides the opportunity to provide learning opportunities during school closures (IIEP-UNESCO, 2020). A specific digital technology that has been implemented during education in emergencies situations involves mobile learning (Baytiyeh, 2019; Dabrowski et al., 2020). Hence, the MILO questionnaires will collect data about access to digital resources, such as whether students had access to the internet, computers and smartphones.

However, it is recognised that in many low income countries, access to digital resources remains low or uneven (Jagannath et al., 2018; James, 2021; Kalolo, 2019). Consistent with this, in response to the COVID-19 disruption, numerous countries delivered teaching and learning content via television and radio (Dabrowski et al., 2020). Hence, the Student Questionnaire asks participants if they have a television or radio in their home.

It takes time to convert curricula for television and/or radio platforms (Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, 2020). It can also be difficult to incorporate all grades, subjects, and exam review lessons for television and radio (The Federal Ministry of Education (Sudan), 2020; The Republic of The Gambia, 2020). Therefore, various governments and schools relied on print materials to support learning during the COVID-19 disruption. Print materials are often used when there is a lack of access to other modalities, which is most common for children from lower socioeconomic backgrounds (Cullinane & Montacute, 2020; GPE, 2020f). Accordingly, the Student Questionnaires asks participants if they had access to home learning resources, such as: pens, text books and rulers during the Covid-19 disruption.

Beyond resources, the home environment also includes the level of support that family members can provide children. During the COVID-19 disruption, initiatives in low income countries that supported families typically emphasised basic health and wellbeing. However, other initiatives included provided guides for families to develop structured and emotionally warm learning environments (GPE, 2020b, 2020g, 2020e; Ministry of Education (Liberia), 2020; Ministry of Education (Somalia), 2020).

The MILO Student Questionnaire asks how often children received help with learning tasks, such as: reading, writing, mathematics, creating learning timetables, accessing materials or using digital devices. Parents and other household members play a larger role in children's education when schools are shut down, thus learning outcomes will be enhanced if households are supported (Codreanu, 2019; Davies, 2011; Reimers & Schleicher, 2020). In recognition of this, the MILO School and System Questionnaires will gather data about household support and outreach. For example, principals will be asked if schools: contacted the families of students who are failing to attend school, provided families with support from counsellors, conducted home visits and gave advice about how parents can foster children's academic learning.

There are also measures that can be implemented at the systems level to support families. In regard to this, the MILO System Questionnaire will seek information about whether families were encouraged to return their children to school, such as via providing resources, like food, cash or transport. Furthermore, consistent with evidence that communities can help facilitate the re-engagement of families in schooling, (Sinclair, 2001) the questionnaire will collect data about the extent community engagement was undertaken for this purpose.

Theme 4: School environment

Under normal circumstances, schools are the basic organisational unit providing the resources necessary for educating children. There is strong evidence that effective school leaders, who are well supported, can make a significant difference to the quality of teaching and learning (Government of Ghana, 2012; Hattie & Clarke, 2019).

The MILO School and System Questionnaires will be used to better understand the circumstances of schools. Data will be collected about whether schools are privately or publically managed, as well as about the extent of autonomy schools usually have, as well as during the COVID-19 disruption. More detailed information about participating schools is also gathered through the School Questionnaire, including: average class size, location (such as urban or rural), and number of staff and students. Additionally, data will be gathered about school resources, such as whether schools have certain teaching materials and modern amenities, as well as technology, such as computers.

An important aspect of a school's capacity to support students depends on the skills of school leaders and teachers (Hattie & Clarke, 2019). Hence, MILO will collect data about staff experience and qualifications. For schools to continue to serve their students during emergencies, school leaders need support. Hence, principals will be asked if during the COVID-19 disruption there was support from: national education authorities, provincial authorities, aid organisations or other groups.

Teachers are the fulcrum in any education system's capacity to maintain learning during an emergency (INEE, 2010). During emergencies, teachers might need to disseminate and communicate information across various platforms to support and engage children and parents (Brocque et al., 2017). This may require teachers to upskill in remote learning pedagogies (Di Pietro et al., 2020; Hall et al., 2020; Reimers & Schleicher, 2020; Trust & Whalen, 2020). Therefore, the MILO School Questionnaire will collect data about the time allocated to teachers to undertake tasks arising from the COVID-19 disruption, as well as the provision of professional development. For example, data will be collected about whether teachers received training related to how to engage students and families remotely, as well as how to support student wellbeing. Lastly, supporting teachers' well-being enables them to better support their students (Day & Kington, 2008; McCallum & Price, 2010), therefore, the MILO School Questionnaire will collect data on teacher wellbeing.

Theme 5: Teaching and learning

Teaching and learning has been transformed in many education systems as a result of the COVID-19 disruption. Hence, the MILO questionnaires will collect a wide variety of data about teaching and learning. Numerous questionnaire items will relate to remote learning, such as about a schools capacity to deliver remote learning. Furthermore, principals will be asked about the extent to which specific strategies were applied in minimising the impact on teaching and learning processes, such as making use of technology, communicating with families and distributing learning materials. Students' perspectives about remote teaching will also be sought. Students will be asked if their school engaged in various practices, such as checking in with them, as well as whether the school facilitated their engagement in remote learning through the provision of resources.

In reopening schools after the COVID-19 shutdowns, many schools focused on helping students to make-up for lost learning. This is achieved through various back to school initiatives, such as remedial and accelerated learning programs, as well as targeting vulnerable children most at risk of not returning to school (Cullinane & Montacute, 2020; GPE, 2020a, 2020c, 2020d). Hence, the MILO School Questionnaire will enquire about what provisions have been made to facilitate face-to-face learning and if there have been any changes that have been made to school policies and procedures following the COVID-19 disruption.

There is evidence suggesting that that curriculum can be adapted to enhance student resilience, such as by integrating social and emotional learning (Kankaraš & Suarez-Alvarez, 2019). For this reason, the MILO School Questionnaire will ask principals if their preparations for future educational emergencies included adapting existing curriculum, such as developing plans for remote instruction.

Theme 6: Student assessment and monitoring

The need to assess learning is heightened following an emergency, as there is more risk of unequal learning progress outside of normal schooling (Reimers & Schleicher, 2020). Classroom and school assessments of student learning during and after emergencies are crucial for guiding education response and recovery, helping identify learning progress, learning loss and learner needs (INEE, 2010; Reimers & Schleicher, 2020). The information garnered from assessments can structure activities and programs to progress learning as the most acute phase of emergencies subside (Belisle et al., 2016).

The MILO questionnaires will gather various data related to assessment. Principals will be asked what forms of assessment (if any) were undertaken, as well as whether feedback was provided to students. This will be triangulated by asking students about feedback they received on their learning. The Systems Questionnaire asks about any changes made to national assessments as a result of COVID-19.

Monitoring involves collecting and analysing up-to-date data from schools, staff, and students, informing decision-making about education resourcing and planning

(Robinson & Curtiss, 2020; Save the Children International, 2020b). Hence, the System Questionnaire will ask officials if they collected data to monitor the impacts of the COVID-19 disruption on students and teachers.

The MILO questionnaires

This section provides an overview of the three MILO questionnaires, including the themes and content explored, the question types and how each will be administered. All three questionnaires will refer to the 'COVID-19' disruption, which is a period of time specified by each country in which regular schooling was changed as a result of COVID-19. It could involve schools being closed, contact hours changing or greater use of remote learning, for example.

The Student Questionnaire aims to gain the perspectives of students about changes to their education as a result of COVID-19. It also collects data about the home environment and student characteristics.

The School Questionnaire is to be completed by a school principal, or their delegate. The questionnaire focusses on gaining perspectives of school principals on how COVID-19 impacted their school's ability to deliver teaching and learning activities, as well as any ongoing consequences resulting from the pandemic. In addition, the questionnaire will elicit information about schools in general to aid the interpretation of student assessment and questionnaire responses.

The System Questionnaire will be coordinated and submitted by a senior government official at the national level¹. One response will be received from each country participating in MILO. The respondent(s) will be expected to draw on information from government sources, whereby they may need to request information from other officials. They will be asked to provide responses regarding the education system of the whole country, and with specific regard to the impacts of COVID-19. This includes: how the period of disrupted schooling can be characterised, how responsibility was distributed for responding to the pandemic in the school sector, and what plans and policies have been implemented in response to the COVID-19 disruption.

The Student and School Questionnaires will contain a combination of categorical and scale questions. The System Questionnaire includes categorical and scale questions as well as an open-ended question asking for a detailed description of the key features of the COVID-19 disruption in the country.

The Student and School Questionnaires will be paper based and the System Questionnaire will be completed online. All questionnaires will be translated into French from English. Of the six participating countries, four are Francophone countries and two are Anglophone countries.

¹ The respondent for each of the six participating countries will be nominated by the National Project Managers.

The three questionnaires include some overlapping content which will enable perspectives from the three different groups to be triangulated. Together, the three questionnaires will provide the contextual data required to better understand the impacts of COVID-19 on learning, the current conditions of learning and other background factors that will assist with the interpretation of the MILO assessment results.

References

- Akmal, M., Hares, S., & O'Donnell, M. (2020). Gendered Impacts of COVID-19 School Closures: Insights from Frontline Organizations. Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/gendered-impacts-covid-19-school-closuresinsights-frontline-organizations
- August, D., Shanahan, T., & Escamilla, K. (2009). English language learners: Developing literacy in second-language learners—Report of the National Literacy Panel on Language-Minority Children and Youth. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 41(4), 432– 452.
- Baytiyeh, H. (2019). Why School Resilience Should Be Critical for the Post-Earthquake Recovery of Communities in Divided Societies. *Education and Urban Society*, 51(5), 693–711. ERIC.
- Bekalo, S. A., Brophy, M., & Welford, A. G. (2003). The development of education in postconflict 'Somaliland.' *International Journal of Educational Development*, 23(4), 459– 475. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-0593(03)00016-6
- Belisle, M., Cassity, E., Kacilala, R., Seniloli, M. T., Taoi, T., Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER), Unesco, & Asia and Pacific Regional Bureau for Education. (2016). 2015 Pacific Islands Literacy and Numeracy Assessment (PILNA).
- Brocque, R. L., Young, A. D., Montague, G., Pocock, S., March, S., Triggell, N., Rabaa, C., & Kenardy, J. (2017). Schools and Natural Disaster Recovery: The Unique and Vital Role That Teachers and Education Professionals Play in Ensuring the Mental Health of Students Following Natural Disasters. *Journal of Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools*, 27(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1017/jgc.2016.17
- Cho, M.-H., Cheon, J., & Lim, S. (2021). Preservice teachers' motivation profiles, selfregulation, and affective outcomes in online learning. *Distance Education*, 42(1), 37– 54. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2020.1869528
- Codreanu, T. (2019). Evaluation of disaster preparedness education for teenagers: A multinational study of behavioural and practical disaster preparedness of final year high-school students. https://doi.org/10.26182/5d02eaa6b2387
- Cullinane, C., & Montacute, R. (2020). COVID-19 and Social Mobility Impact Brief #1: School Shutdown (p. 11).
- Dabrowski, A., Nietschke, Y., Taylor-Guy, P., & Chase, A.-M. (2020). *Mitigating the impacts of COVID-19: Lessons from Australia in remote education*. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://doi.org/10.37517/978-1-74286-618-5
- Davies, L. (2011). Learning for state-building: Capacity development, education and fragility. *Comparative Education*, 47(2), 157–180. JSTOR.
- Day, C., & Kington, A. (2008). Identity, well-being and effectiveness: The emotional contexts of teaching. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society*, *16*(1), 7–23.
- Desai, M. (2020). Children in Specific Emergency Situations and Need for Child Protection Services. In M. Desai, *Rights-based Integrated Child Protection Service Delivery Systems* (pp. 439–462). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8534-6_15
- Di Pietro, G., Biagi, F., Costa, P., Karpiński, Z., Mazza, J., European Commission, & Joint Research Centre. (2020). *The likely impact of COVID-19 on education: Reflections based on the existing literature and recent international datasets.* (p. 48). Joint Research Cnetre.

https://op.europa.eu/publication/manifestation_identifier/PUB_KJNA30275ENN Dickinson, H., Smith, C., Yates, S., & Bertuol, M. (2020). *Not even remotely fair:*

Experiences of students with disability during COVID-19 (Australia) [Report]. Children and Young People with Disability Australia. https://apo.org.au/node/307154

- Dvorsky, M. R., Breaux, R., & Becker, S. P. (2020). Finding ordinary magic in extraordinary times: Child and adolescent resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-020-01583-8
- Education Cannot Wait. (2019). Foundations' engagement in education in emergencies and protracted crises—Policy brief.
 - https://www.educationcannotwait.org/download/foundation-policy-brief/
- European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations. (2020). *Education in emergencies: Project mapping report* (p. 64). Author.
- https://ec.europa.eu/echo/sites/echo-site/files/eie_mapping_report.pdf Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia. (2020). *Ethiopia COVID-19 Education Response Project (P174206)Stakeholder Engagement Plan (SEP)*. http://www.moe.gov.et/documents/20201/73065/Stakeholder+Engagement+Plan+%2 8SEP%29+Ethiopia+COVID-19+Education+Response+Project+%28P174206%29.pdf/c3d21b1c-1421-43a3-8208daa1a973860b
- Global Education Monitoring Report Team. (2020). *Global education monitoring report summary, 2020: Inclusion and education: All means all.* UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000373718?fbclid=IwAR2L8j0jjrRBoLGF Df65VEjdGnt_nTMtHOT1yb-ZFco_Z57Iobr8HO5-WXI publisher: UNESCO
- Good, G. A. (2015). Emergency plans in schools: Individualised disaster planning for students with impaired vision. *Journal of the South Pacific Educators in Vision Impairment*, 8(1), 17–28.
- Government of Ghana. (2012). Education Sector Plan 2010 2020 (Vol. 1). Ghana / Documents / Global Partnership for Education. https://www.globalpartnership.org/content/government-ghana-education-strategicplan-2010-2020-volume-1-policies-strategies-delivery
- GPE. (2020a). *Education in Central African Republic | Global Partnership for Education*. https://www.globalpartnership.org/where-we-work/central-african-republic
- GPE. (2020b). *Education in Cote d'Ivoire* | *Global Partnership for Education*. https://www.globalpartnership.org/where-we-work/cote-divoire
- GPE. (2020c). *Education in Djibouti / Global Partnership for Education*. https://www.globalpartnership.org/where-we-work/djibouti
- GPE. (2020d). *Education in Lesotho / Global Partnership for Education*. https://www.globalpartnership.org/where-we-work/lesotho
- GPE. (2020e). *Education in Sao Tome and Principe | Global Partnership for Education*. https://www.globalpartnership.org/where-we-work/sao-tome-and-principe
- GPE. (2020f). *Education in Senegal / Global Partnership for Education*. https://www.globalpartnership.org/where-we-work/senegal
- GPE. (2020g). *Education in South Sudan | Global Partnership for Education*. https://www.globalpartnership.org/where-we-work/south-sudan
- Hall, T., Connolly, C., Ó Grádaigh, S., Burden, K., Kearney, M., Schuck, S., Bottema, J., Cazemier, G., Hustinx, W., Evens, M., Koenraad, T., Makridou, E., & Kosmas, P. (2020). Education in precarious times: A comparative study across six countries to identify design priorities for mobile learning in a pandemic. *Information and Learning Science*. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1108/ILS-04-2020-0089

Halman, P. G., van de Fliert, E., Khan, M. A., & Shevellar, L. (2018). The humanitarian

imperative for education in disaster response. *Disaster Prevention and Management: An International Journal*, 27(2), 207–214. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1108/DPM-10-2017-0252

- Hattie, J., & Clarke, S. (2019). *Visible learning: Feedback*. https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&scope=site&db=nlebk&db=nlab k&AN=1877800
- Heltne, U. M., Dybdahl, R., Elkhalifa, S., & Breidlid, A. (2020). Psychosocial Support and Emergency Education: An Explorative Study of Perceptions among Adult Stakeholders in Sudan and South Sudan. *Sustainability*, *12*(4), 1410. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041410
- INEE. (2010). Minimum Standards for Education: Preparedness, Response, Recovery. In Inter-Agency Network for Education in Emergencies (Inter-Agency Network for Education in Emergencies. 122 East 42nd Street 14th Floor, New York, NY 10168. email: director@ineesite.org; Web site: http://www.ineesite.org). Inter-Agency Network for Education in Emergencies; ERIC. https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,sso&db=eric&AN =ED535314&site=ehost-live&authtype=sso&custid=s4842115

journalAbbreviation: Inter-Agency Network for Education in Emergencies

INEE. (2020). *COVID-19: How to include marginalized and vulnerable people in risk communication and community engagement*. The Regional Risk Communication and Community Engagement Working Group, INEE. https://inee.org/system/files/resources/COVID-

19%20-%20How%20to%20include%20marginalized%20and%20vulnerable%20peop le%20in%20risk%20communication%20and%20community%20engagement.pdf

- Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre. (2020). *Internal displacement 2020: Mid-year update* (p. 60). https://www.internal-displacement.org/sites/default/files/publications/documents/2020%20Mid-year%20update.pdf#page=41
- Jagannath, S., Hemmings-Jarrett, K., & Jazayeri, A. (2018). Understanding Information and Communication Technology Diffusion in Developing Countries. *AMCIS 2018 Proceedings*. https://aisel.aisnet.org/amcis2018/TREOsPDS/Presentations/103
- James, J. (2021). Confronting the scarcity of digital skills among the poor in developing countries. *Development Policy Review*, 39(2), 324–339. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12479
- Kalolo, J. F. (2019). Digital revolution and its impact on education systems in developing countries. *Education and Information Technologies*, 24(1), 345–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-9778-3
- Kankaraš, M., & Suarez-Alvarez, J. (2019). Assessment framework of the OECD Study on Social and Emotional Skills. https://doi.org/doi.https://doi.org/10.1787/5007adef-en
- Kirk, J. (2011). Education and fragile states. In K. Mundy & S. Dryden-Peterson (Eds.), Educating children in conflict zones: Research, policy, and practice for systemic change—A tribute to Jackie Kirk (pp. 13–32). Teachers College Press.
- Koza Çiftçi, Ş., & Melis Cin, F. (2017). The Effect of Socioeconomic Status on Students' Achievement. In E. Karadag (Ed.), *The Factors Effecting Student Achievement: Meta-Analysis of Empirical Studies* (pp. 171–181). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56083-0_10
- Mazawi, A. E. (1999). Concentrated Disadvantage and Access to Educational Credentials in Arab and Jewish Localities in Israel [1]. *British Educational Research Journal*, 25(3), 355. Education Research Complete.

- McCallum, F., & Price, D. (2010). Well teachers, well students. *The Journal of Student Wellbeing*, 4(1), 19–34.
- Ministry of Education (Liberia). (2020). Liberia COVID-19 Education Emergency Response Plan. 77.
- Ministry of Education (Somalia). (2020). Somalia Education Sector COVID-19 Response Plan (Puntland).

https://planipolis.iiep.unesco.org/sites/planipolis/files/ressources/somalia-education-sector_covid-19_response-plan_final_2020-04-22.pdf

- Refugees International. (2020, March 30). *COVID-19 and the displaced: Addressing the threat of the novel Coronavirus in humanitarian emergencies*. Refugees International. https://www.refugeesinternational.org/reports/2020/3/29/covid-19-and-the-displaced-addressing-the-threat-of-the-novel-coronavirus-in-humanitarian-emergencies
- Reimers, F. M., & Schleicher, A. (2020). *Schooling disrupted schooling rethought: How the Covid-19 pandemic is changing education* (p. 62). OECD. https://read.oecdilibrary.org/view/?ref=133_133390-1rtuknc0hi&title=Schooling-disrupted-schoolingrethought-How-the-Covid-19-pandemic-is-changing-education
- Robinson, J. P., & Curtiss, M. (2020, March 26). The COVID-19 crisis and reflections on systems transformation. *Brookings*. https://www.brookings.edu/blog/education-plusdevelopment/2020/03/26/the-covid-19-crisis-and-reflections-on-systemstransformation/
- Rodríguez-Ledo, C., Orejudo Hernández, S., Celma Pastor, L., & Cardoso Moreno, M. J. (2018). Improving Social-Emotional Competencies in the Secondary Education Classroom through the SEA Program. *Electronic Journal of Research in Educational Psychology*, 16(46), 681–701. ERIC.
- Save the Children. (2020). Save Our Education: Protect every child's right to learn in the COVID-19 response and recovery. Save the Children.

https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/node/17871/pdf/save_our_education_0.pdf Schwantner, U., & Adams, R. J. (2018). *Monitoring equity: Socioeconomic status in learning*

assessments. UNESCO Bangkok. https://bangkok.unesco.org/index.php/content/monitoring-equity-socioeconomicstatus-learning-assessments

- Sinclair, M. (2001). Education in emergencies. *Learning for a Future: Refugee Education in Developing Countries*, 1–84.
- Sirin, S. R. (2005). Socioeconomic status and academic achievement: A meta-analytic review of research. *Review of Educational Research*, 75(3), 417–453.
- Smitha, A. (2014). Contemporary Challenges for Education in Conflict Affected Countries. Journal of International and Comparative Education, 3(1), 113–125. https://doi.org/10.14425/00.62.86
- Tarricone, T., Mestan, K., & Teo, I. (Forthcoming). *Building resilient education systems: A rapid review of the education in emergencies literature*. ACER-GEM.

The Federal Ministry of Education (Sudan). (2020). National COVID19 Response Plan (draft) Keeping Students Safe and Engaged in Learning in Sudan. http://www.moe.gov.sd/moe@pdf/Sudan%20COVID19%20%20Education%20Natio nal%20Response%20Plan.pdf

The Republic of The Gambia. (2020). Education sector coronavirus (COVID-19) reponses plan.

https://planipolis.iiep.unesco.org/sites/planipolis/files/ressources/gambia_education_s ector_covid-19_strategy.pdf

Trust, T., & Whalen, J. (2020). Should Teachers be Trained in Emergency Remote Teaching? Lessons Learned from the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Technology and Teacher* Education, 28(2), 189–199.

- Tsolou, O., Babalis, T., & Tsoli, K. (2021). The Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Education: Social Exclusion and Dropping out of School. *Creative Education*, *12*(03), 529–544. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2021.123036
- UIS. (2021). *Minority language speakers risk being left behind in COVID-19 education response*. UNESCO. https://en.unesco.org/news/minority-language-speakers-risk-being-left-behind-covid-19-education-response
- UN. (2020). Education during COVID-19 and beyond.
- UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (2020). Goal 4 / Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Sustainable Development. https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal4
- UNESCO. (2016). If you don't understand, how can you learn?
- UNESCO. (2020a, March 4). *Education: From disruption to recovery*. UNESCO. https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse
- UNESCO. (2020b, March 24). *Global Education Coalition*. UNESCO. https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse/globalcoalition
- Weiss-Yagoda, J., Caires, R., Dolan, C. T., Ferráns, S. D., & Ferráns, S. D. (2019). Improving SEL Measurement for Crisis-Affected Children. https://www.eccnetwork.net/sites/default/files/media/file/SEL-Measurementslides.pdf